RECEIVED

09-17-2015

2015 AP 001271-CR

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT

OF ROCK COUNTY

HONORABLE ROBERT DeCHAMBEAU

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

V.

CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 13CM440

JOHN D. ARTHUR GRIFFIN, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

BRIEF AND ARGUMENT OF APPELLANT

Michael J. Herbert Wisconsin State Bar No. 1059100 10 Daystar Ct., Ste. C Madison, Wisconsin 53704 (608) 249-1211 Attorney for John D. Arthur Griffin (on behalf of Wisconsin State Public Defender, Appellate Division)

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

STATEMENT OF REASONS FOR ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Griffin does not request oral argument. Mr. Griffin does not recommend that the opinion be published.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 19, 2013, a criminal complaint was filed in the Rock County Circuit Court charging John D. Arthur Griffin with one misdemeanor count of carrying a concealed weapon, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 941.23(2).

Mr. Griffin filed a pretrial motion, requesting that evidence obtained during a search of his vehicle be suppressed. The circuit court held a hearing on Mr. Griffin's motion, and at the conclusion of the motion hearing requested that the parties submit briefs. The court subsequently held a hearing in which the court denied Mr. Griffin's motion in an oral ruling.

Mr. Griffin ultimately entered a plea of no contest to the single count charged in the criminal complaint. A forfeiture was imposed.

Mr. Griffin timely filed a Notice of Intent to Seek Postconviction Relief.

5

¹ All references to Wisconsin Statutes are to the 2011-12 Edition.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The relevant facts of this case are not in dispute. On January 20, 2013, Officer Paul Reed of the South Beloit Police Department overheard radio traffic reporting shots fired at the Silver Slipper Saloon in Beloit. (Doc. 34:6-7; Appendix F:6-7). Officer Reed heard that a vehicle suspected of involvement in the shooting had fled and was heading eastbound. (Doc. 34:15; Appendix F:15). The vehicle was described as a silver Chevrolet Impala. (Doc. 34:7; Appendix F:7).

Officer Reed subsequently observed a silver
Chevrolet Impala in South Beloit, Illinois, and began to
follow the vehicle. (Doc. 34:7; Appendix F:7). Officer
Reed observed the vehicle stop at a red light at an
intersection, and further observed a passenger exit the
rear driver's side of the vehicle. (Doc. 34:7; Appendix
F:7). Officer Reed exited his vehicle, drew his weapon,
and told the passenger to get back in the vehicle. (Doc.
34:8; Appendix F:8). The individual walked around to

the front and got back into the vehicle. (Doc. 34:8; Appendix F:8). Officer Reed did not observe that the individual had any object(s) in his hands. (Doc. 34:31; Appendix F:31).

Officer Reed then observed the traffic light turn green and the vehicle begin to drive away. (Doc 34:8; Appendix F:8). Officer Reed activated his emergency lights in order to stop the vehicle. (Doc. 34:8; Appendix F:8). The vehicle then pulled over to the side of the road. (Doc. 34:9; Appendix F:9).

Prior to exiting his squad and approaching the vehicle, Officer Reed overheard traffic on the Beloit PD channel indicating that the suspect vehicle had Iowa registration and was possibly a rental. (Doc. 34:9; Appendix F:9). The vehicle that Officer Reed pulled over had Illinois registration. (Doc. 34:9; Appendix F:9).

Officer Reed approached the vehicle, made contact with the driver, and obtained his ID. (Doc. 34:9;

Appendix F:9). When Officer Reed asked the passenger why he had moved to the front seat of the vehicle, the passenger replied that he was cramped in the backseat. (Doc. 34;9; Appendix F:9).

Officer Reed returned to his squad at the time when Officer Sanders arrived on the scene. (Doc. 34:10; Appendix F:10). Officer Reed made contact with Rock Co. dispatch for clarification. (Doc. 34:10; Appendix F:10). Officer Reed was advised by dispatch that the vehicle he had pulled over was not the correct vehicle. (Doc. 34:24; Appendix F:24). Officer Reed was further advised by dispatch that they did not wish the vehicle to be held. (Doc. 34:24; Appendix F:24).

Officer Reed indicated that he intended to let the vehicle go, but wanted to ask the driver if there were any weapons in the car and if he could search the vehicle. (Doc. 34:11; Appendix F:11). Officer Reed then made contact with Mr. Griffin and asked him to step out of the vehicle "so I could speak to him." (Doc.

34:11; Appendix F:11). Mr. Griffin exited the vehicle and walked around to the back with Officer Reed. (Doc. 34:11; Appendix F:11). At that time, Officer Reed heard Officer Sanders indicate that he had observed a gun in the backseat of the vehicle. (Doc. 34:11; Appendix F:11).²

Previously, Officer Reed had observed that the vehicle had tinted windows. (Doc. 34:10; Appendix F:10). Officer Reed did not know for sure whether prior to Officer Sanders observing the gun he had instructed the passenger to roll down the window. (Doc. 34:11; Appendix F:11).

APPELLANT'S ISSUE ON APPEAL

I. Whether the circuit court erred in denying Mr. Griffin's Motion to Suppress by finding reasonable suspicion for the initial investigatory stop of Mr. Griffin's vehicle and for the extension of that stop.

² It was ultimately confirmed that the vehicle and its occupants were involved in the shooting at the Silver Slipper Saloon, as set forth in the criminal complaint. (Doc. 1:3-4; Appendix B:3-4).

A. Summary of the Argument

Mr. Griffin respectfully submits that the circuit court erred in denying Mr. Griffin's Motion to Suppress when it found reasonable suspicion for the investigatory stop in this case and for its subsequent extension.

Mr. Griffin submits that the initial investigatory stop was not based on sufficient reasonable suspicion.

Mr. Griffin further submits that even if the initial investigatory stop was reasonable, the purpose of the initial investigatory stop had been satisfied when dispatch advised Officer Reed that Mr. Griffin's vehicle was not the correct vehicle (i.e. was not the vehicle involved in reported shooting at the Silver Slipper Saloon) and that they did not wish it held.

When Officer Reed returned to the vehicle and asked Mr. Griffin to exit the vehicle so that Officer Reed could speak to him, at that point the initial investigatory stop was extended beyond is original purpose. In order to extend the stop beyond its original

purpose, Officer Reed would have needed new information in addition to that which justified the original investigatory stop. Based on Officer Reed's testimony at the motion hearing, he was not acting on new information or articulable facts but rather on a "hunch" when he requested Mr. Griffin to step out of the vehicle after having consulted with dispatch. (Doc. 34:32; Appendix F:32).

Consequently, Mr. Griffin was being subjected to an unlawful/unreasonable seizure when Officer Sanders observed the gun in plain view. Accordingly, the evidence recovered from the vehicle must be excluded as the fruits of an unlawful/unreasonable seizure and search

B. Standard of Review

The question whether police conduct violates the constitutional guarantee against unreasonable searches and seizures is a question of constitutional fact. <u>State v.</u> <u>Kieffer</u>, 217 Wis. 2d 531, 541, 577 N.W.2d 352 (1998).

On review, the reviewing court gives deference to the trial court's findings of evidentiary or historical fact, but determines the question of constitutional fact independently. State v. Kieffer, 217 Wis. 2d 531, 541, 577 N.W.2d 352 (1998).

C. Relevant Law

Temporary detention of individuals during the stop of an automobile by the police, even if only for a brief period of time and for a limited purpose, constitutes a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 809-10, 116 S.Ct. 1769 (1996).

In order for a seizure to be reasonable under the requirement of the Fourth Amendment, the police officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts, taken together with the rational inferences from those facts, would warrant a reasonable suspicion that the subject of the seizure is committing, has committed,

or is about to commit a crime. <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 392 U.S. 1, 21, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968).

The police must have a reasonable suspicion, grounded in specific articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts, that an individual is violating the law. State v. Gammons, 2001 WI App 36, 241 Wis.2d 296, ¶6, 625 NW2d, 623 (Ct.App.2001).

The question of what constitutes reasonable suspicion is a common sense test - under all the facts and circumstances present, what would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience. State v. Colstad, 2003 WI App 25, 260 Wis. 2d 406, ¶8, 659 N.W.2d 394 (Ct.App.2003).

If, during a valid traffic stop, the officer becomes aware of additional suspicious factors which are sufficient to give rise to an articulable suspicion that the person has committed or is committing an offense or offenses separate and distinct from the acts that

prompted the officer's intervention in the first place, the stop may be extended and a new investigation begun.

State v. Colstad, 2003 WI App 25, 260 Wis. 2d 406,

¶19, 659 N.W.2d 394 (Ct.App.2003).

The exclusionary rule requires courts to suppress evidence obtained through the exploitation of an illegal search or seizure. Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 488, 83 S.Ct. 407 (1963).

D. Argument

When Officer Reed first made contact with Mr.

Griffin's vehicle, reasonable suspicion to believe that
the vehicle might have been involved in the reported
shooting at the Silver Slipper Saloon did not exist. Prior
to making contact with the occupants of the vehicle,
Officer Reed overheard radio traffic indicting that the
suspect vehicle had Iowa registration; Mr. Griffin's
vehicle had Illinois registration.

At that time, Officer Reed had no other facts (such as a description of the suspects) to formulate a

reasonable suspicion other than the observance of the passenger's behavior in getting out of the backseat and getting into the front seat of the vehicle. Officer Reed noted that he did not observe anything inherently suspicious in the passenger's movements. The totality of the circumstances known to Officer Reed at that time did not constitute reasonable suspicion to detain the vehicle and effectuate a Fourth Amendment seizure/investigatory stop based on a possible connection to the reported shooting.

However, even if Officer Reed had reasonable suspicion to proceed with the investigatory stop, the purpose of the investigatory stop was completed once dispatch advised Officer Reed that this was not the vehicle involved in the shooting. The investigation with respect to Mr. Griffin's vehicle was complete such that dispatch advised that they did not wish the vehicle to be held.

Officer Reed had not been apprised of any new information that would be considered suspicious. In fact, the information that Officer Reed received from dispatch functioned to lessen any suspicion that might have previously been drawn from the passenger's odd behavior.

When Officer Reed asked Mr. Griffin to step out of the vehicle in order to talk, he extended the stop without having sufficient articulable facts to do so.

He conceded at the motion hearing that the basis for his actions was essentially a 'hunch.'

An officer's 'hunch' cannot form the basis for a reasonable seizure under the Fourth Amendment, or for the extension of a seizure that was reasonable at its inception. The evidence recovered from the vehicle was obtained as a direct result of the unlawful seizure and should be suppressed.

1. There was insufficient reasonable suspicion to justify the initial detention of Mr. Griffin's vehicle for the purpose of an investigatory stop.

Temporary detention of individuals during the stop of an automobile by the police, even if only for a brief period of time and for a limited purpose, constitutes a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 809-810, 116 S.Ct. 1769 (1996). In order for such a seizure to be reasonable, law enforcement must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, would warrant a reasonable suspicion that the individual is committing, has committed, or is about to commit a crime. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968).

Officer Reed initiated the stop of Mr. Griffin's vehicle in order to determine whether it or its occupants were involved in the reported shooting at the Silver Slipper Saloon. Although the vehicle matched a general description of the suspect vehicle, prior to making

contact with Mr. Griffin, Officer Reed received information suggesting that the vehicle they had pulled over was not the suspect vehicle. The vehicle believed to be involved in the shooting had Iowa registration, while the vehicle Officer Reed was detaining had Illinois registration.

Although Officer Reed had observed one of the passengers engage in odd behavior in moving from the back to the four seat of the vehicle, Officer Reed did not identify an articulable reason why such an observation would make it more likely that the vehicle or its occupants were involved in criminal activity, even considering the late hour. Officer Reed did not observe the passenger attempt to dispose of anything or make any inherently suspicious motions.

Although an interference with the liberty of the individuals had already occurred in that Officer Reed had already activated his emergency lights and the vehicle had pulled over in response, the investigatory

stop and subsequent contact with Mr. Griffin was unreasonable. At that time, Officer Reed had no specific, articulable facts from which to reasonably conclude that the occupants of the vehicle were involved in criminal activity.

The record supporting reasonable suspicion for the initial stop in the present case is arguably no less sparse than the record in State v. Young, 212 Wis.2d 417, 431, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct.App.1997). In Young, the officer had received information from another officer that a young black male had just made a short-term contact with another subject in the area; the area was known as a high drug trafficking area. The officer made contact with Young, who fit the description he had been provided. Young gave consent for the search of his person, and the officer located marijuana and a small marijuana pipe.

The officer admitted he had stopped Young solely on the basis of what the other officer had told

him, and not based on any personal observations. State
v. Young, 212 Wis.2d 417, 421, 569 N.W.2d 84.

The court of appeals noted that the conduct relied on by the officers – meeting people briefly in a high drug trafficking area during daytime hours – might be suspicious, but is also conduct which large numbers of innocent citizens engage in every day for innocent purposes. State v. Young, 212 Wis.2d 417, 429-30, 569 N.W.2d 84. As the court of appeals emphasized, any inference of unlawful conduct must be a reasonable one. State v. Young, 212 Wis.2d 417, 430, 569 N.W.2d 84.

Like the present case, Officer Reed's inference of potential unlawful conduct sufficient to engage in an investigatory stop of the vehicle is not a reasonable inference. The information he had suggested that the Griffin vehicle was not involved in the Beloit shooting. Even odd or marginally suspicious conduct such as the behavior of the passenger in this case must give rise to a reasonable inference of criminal activity. The

supporting facts in the present case are even less compelling than those in <u>Young</u> – which the court of appeals described as a "sparse" record insufficient to justify the investigatory stop. <u>State v. Young</u>, 212 Wis.2d 417, 430,433, 569 N.W.2d 84.

Accordingly, Mr. Griffin submits that the initial investigatory stop of his vehicle lacked reasonable suspicion and was therefore unreasonable.

2. Even if the initial investigatory stop was reasonable, it was unreasonably extended beyond its initial purpose without sufficient reasonable suspicion.

If the court concludes that the initial investigatory stop of Mr. Griffin's vehicle was reasonable, Mt. Griffin would respectfully assert that the ensuing extension of the stop beyond its original purpose was unreasonable.

If, during a valid traffic stop, the officer becomes aware of additional suspicious factors which are sufficient to give rise to an articulable suspicion that

the person has committed or is committing an offense or offenses separate and distinct from the acts that prompted the officer's intervention in the first place, the stop may be extended and a new investigation begun.

State v. Colstad, 260 Wis. 2d 406, ¶19, 659 N.W.2d 394 (Ct.App.2003).

Officer Reed conceded at the motion hearing that once dispatch advised that the Griffin vehicle was not the vehicle involved in the shooting and that they did not wish the Griffin vehicle to be held, the basis for the stop and suspicion about the vehicle was essentially over. (Doc. 34:25; Appendix F:25). Officer Reed further testified that he believed that despite the notification from dispatch, the Griffin vehicle could have been the vehicle involved in the shooting due to possible "confusion" in the original description of the vehicle. (Doc. 34:65-66; Appendix F:65-66). However, Officer Reed also conceded that he had no facts to support his

belief that the information from dispatch might have been inaccurate. (Doc. 34:66; Appendix F:66).

Under that circumstance, Officer Reed needed additional information or facts in order to justify the continued seizure of Mr. Griffin.

The Wisconsin supreme court recently addressed the issue of reasonable suspicion in the context of extending an investigatory stop in State v. Hogan, 2015 WI 76 (2015). In that case, the defendant/driver was initially stopped for a seatbelt violation. After making contact with the driver, the officer observed what he believed to be indicia of drug use. As the officer was writing out the seat belt citations, another officer arrived on the scene and provided uncorroborated information that the driver was engaged in the manufacture of methamphetamines. The first officer requested that the driver perform field sobriety tests; the driver agreed and passed the tests. He was told he was free to leave.

A short time later, the officer re-approached the driver and asked the driver for consent to search the vehicle. Consent was given, and the resulting search yielded supplies used to manufacture methamphetamines, as well as two loaded handguns.

The Wisconsin supreme court concluded that the facts of record did not constitute reasonable suspicion to extend the investigatory stop to request field sobriety tests. State v. Hogan, 2015 WI 76, ¶9.

Since the officer had extended the initial traffic stop for the purpose of requesting field sobriety tests, the court stated that "the legality of the extension of the traffic stop in this case turns on the presence of factors which, in the aggregate, amount to a reasonable suspicion that Hogan committed a crime the investigation of which would be furthered by the defendant's performance of field sobriety tests." State v. Hogan, 2015 WI 76, ¶37.

The court in <u>Hogan</u> found the officer did not have a sufficient basis to extend the stop. The officer believed that the condition of the driver's pupils suggested potential impairment, but offered no specific information as to how pupil size is related to impaired driving or intoxication. <u>State v. Hogan</u>, 2015 WI 76, ¶48. Although the officer had received information from another officer, the court concluded that there was no showing on the record as to why the information should be deemed reliable. <u>State v. Hogan</u>, 2015 WI 76, ¶51.

The court concluded that the case for reasonable suspicion rested primarily on the observations of the driver as being nervous and shaking. Although those observations are consistent with methamphetamine use, the court concluded that as a practical matter police cannot conduct an investigatory stop/field sobriety tests on every motorist who is shaking and nervous when stopped by an officer. State v. Hogan, 2015 WI 76, ¶50.

Likewise in the present case, law enforcement cannot reasonably extend an investigatory stop every time the officer has a hunch that weapons might be present. There were no specific articulable facts to suggest that weapons would be present in the vehicle and justify a new investigation for that purpose. In fact, since the initial stop, Officer Reed had discovered that the vehicle he had detained was not the vehicle suspected in the shooting. Thus the information Officer Reed had acquired actually made it less objectively likely that the Griffin vehicle contained any weapons.

State v. Colstad, 2003 WI App 25, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394 (Ct.App.2003), illustrates the type of facts that are sufficient to justify the extension of an investigatory stop. In Colstad, the defendant was detained following a traffic accident in which he drove a vehicle that collided with a child. During the initial contact, the officer did not detect any signs of intoxication or impairment. The officer left Colstad in

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