STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Case No. 2013CM440

JOHN D. ARTHUR GRIFFIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL No. 2015AP1271 CR

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE IN ROCK COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE KENNETH FORBECK PRESIDING.

> DAVID J. O'LEARY Rock County District Attorney

RICHARD J. SULLIVAN Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1026905

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Rock County District Attorney's Office 51 South Main Street Janesville, Wisconsin 53545 (608) 757-5615

RECEIVED

10-13-2015

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

ARGUMENT

The Defendant argues that Judge Forbeck erred when he failed to suppress evidence that resulted from a stop of the Defendant's silver Impala that was involved in a shooting at the Silver Slipper Saloon on January 20, 2013. The Defendant claims that the original stop was not based on a reasonable suspicion. The Defendant claims that the return of the Defendant's drivers license extended the stop unlawfully. The Defendant claims that due to the illegality of the stop or an extension of the stop, the discovery of the Defendant's gun, the discovery of the gun used by Antwann Griffin in the shooting, and both men's confessions should be suppressed. The Defendant's arguments are erroneous and Judge Forbeck correctly denied the Defendant's Motion to Suppress.

When reviewing a decision of a circuit court concerning suppression, an appellate court, "[W]ill uphold findings of evidentiary or historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous." <u>State v. Kiefer</u>, 217 Wis.2d 531, 541, 577 N.W.2d 352 (1998)(*citation omitted*). However, the constitutional question will be decided by the appellate court, "[B]enefiting from the analysis of the circuit court." <u>Id</u>. (*citation omitted*). "Because circuit courts are better positioned to decide the weight and relevancy of the testimony, we accord them substantial deference." <u>Haase v.</u> <u>Badger Mining Corp.</u>, 204 WI 97 ¶17, 274 Wis.2d 143 (*citation omitted*).

I. <u>The original stop by Officer Paul Reed of the</u> <u>Defendant's vehicle was properly found to have</u> <u>been supported by a reasonable suspicion.</u>

The Defendant argues that Officer Reed either violated his Fourth Amendment rights at the point of the initial stop or once Officer Reed returned to the Defendant's vehicle to give the Defendant back his license and allow him to leave. Case law, however, displays that at no time did Officer Reed violate any Fourth Amendment rights and that the circuit court correctly denied the Defendant's Motion to Suppress.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court noted that, "A traffic stop is a form of seizure triggering Fourth Amendment protections from unreasonable searches and seizures." <u>State</u> <u>v. Gammons</u>, 2001 WI App 36, ¶6, 241 Wis.2d 296, 625 N.W.2d 623 (Ct. App. 5th Dist. 2001)(*citing* <u>State v. Guzy</u>, 139 Wis.2d 663, 675, 407 N.W.2d 548 (1987)). Further:

> In order to justify an investigatory seizure, "[t]he police must have reasonable suspicion, grounded in specific articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts that an individual is [or was] violating the law." "The question of what constitutes reasonable suspicion is a common sense test: under all the facts and circumstances present what would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience." Before initiating a brief stop, an officer is not required to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior.

<u>State v. Colstad</u>, 2003 WI App. 25, ¶8, 260 Wis.2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394 (Ct. App. 6th Dist. 2001)(*internal citation omitted*). "[A]n investigative detention must be temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop." <u>Florida v. Royer</u>, 460 U.S. 491 (1983). The

Wisconsin Supreme Court noted that, "[W]hen a passenger has been seized pursuant to a lawful traffic stop, the seizure does not become unreasonable...simply because an officer asks the passenger for identification during the stop." <u>State v.</u> Griffith, 2000 WI 72, ¶65, 236 Wis.2d 48, 613 N.W.2d 72.

In the case at bar, the Defendant claims that a reasonable suspicion did not exist, but that is simply patently false. The Defendant relies on State v. Young, 212 Wis.2d 417, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 5th Dist. 1997), to argue that the facts were not sufficient for Officer Reed's stop of the silver Impala. However, as the facts of the case at bar clearly show, Officer Reed's action of stopping the silver Impala that contained a shooter from a shooting only five (5) miles away, was more than reasonable. Unlike Young, were an officer made contact only after two (2) people had short-term contact in daytime hours in a known drug area, Officer Reed knew of an actual criminal shooting that was already committed, rather than just the possibility of a crime as in Young. The facts of the initial traffic stop certainly display that Officer Reed had reasonable and articulable suspicions, as Defendant

Antwann Griffin conceded² and Judge Forbeck stated on the record. (R: 34 at 35). Very quickly after a shooting only five (5) miles away, a silver Impala matching the description of the suspect vehicle entered a geographically contiguous jurisdiction. It was very early in the morning as a person exited the vehicle in a suspicious though not expressly illegal manner. Based on the location where the person suspiciously exited the vehicle, Officer Reed was aware that it would have been easy to dispose of evidence from the shooting. (Id. at 29-30). On the way to the Defendant's car after the traffic stop was initiated, Officer Reed heard more information concerning the possibility of an Iowa license plate on the silver Impala fleeing the scene of the shooting, but as the Wisconsin Supreme Court recognized, the request for identification did not make the seizure unreasonable. It is clear from the record that at least to the point of the return to the squad after initial contact with the occupants of the Impala, no Fourth Amendment violation occurred.

The <u>Young</u> court recognized that even innocent conduct, based on the totality of the circumstances, can be

 $^{^{2}}$ MS. PESHEK:Certainly, his initial stop was reasonable based on the initial description that he got, but this was an evolving situation. (R: 34 at 43).

sufficient to cause police conduct. The Court of Appeals noted that:

If a reasonable inference of unlawful conduct can be objectively discerned, the officers may temporarily detain the individual to investigate, notwithstanding the existence of innocent inference which could be drawn...It is also true that a series of acts, each of which are innocent in themselves may, taken together, give rise to a reasonable suspicion of criminal conduct.

Young, 212 Wis.2d at 430 (internal citation omitted).

Judge Forbeck found such a series of acts. Judge Forbeck found that the vehicle driven by the Defendant matched the description of the silver Impala involved in the shooting "very closely." (R: 35 at 3, 7). The contact occurred at 2:00 a.m. in an isolated area. (Id. at 7). The passenger suspiciously moved around to a different position in the car. (Id. at 3, 7). Judge Forbeck found that Officer Reed exited his squad, pulled his gun, and told the passenger to get back into the silver Impala. (Id. at 3-4). The vehicle did not stay at the side of the road, but rather drove off. (Id. at 4). The vehicle widows were so darkly tinted that officers could not see into the vehicle. (Id.) Judge Forbeck found that the totality of the circumstances supported that stop, noting, "And I think this officer under the facts and circumstances did what he should have done and what I would hope he would do as a police officer and stop the car and get some identification." (Id. at 7). Even with the confusion over the license plate, after a review of <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968), the court found that Officer Reed's identification process met constitutional muster. The court found that Officer Reed was in the process of releasing the Defendant until a gun was observed in plain view, transforming the investigative intent. (R: 35 at 8).

II. Officer Reed did not extend the stop, but instead was concluding the stop in a reasonable manner, when the investigative circumstances changed.

The Defendant repeatedly points to the length of the contact after Officer Reed learned that the Rock County Dispatch Center stated in error that the Defendants' Impala was not involved in the shooting at the Silver Slipper Saloon and the discovery of the firearm concealed illegally in the Impala. However, the record is quite clear that the traffic stop was extremely temporary and lasted only as long as necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop, investigation of a shooting and the suspicious behavior at the stop light. Upon return to his squad, Officer Reed initiated contact with the Rock County Dispatch Center to ensure that the information concerning the Iowa registration was from Rock County and not from the other radio channels that the officer was monitoring. As soon as Officer Reed learned that the vehicle was not wanted in Wisconsin, he informed both the dispatcher and Officer Sanders that he would let the Impala go. Officer Reed testified that he only intended to return Defendant John Griffin's drivers license and ask for consent to search, a procedure that the Wisconsin Supreme Court recognizes "standard, accepted investigative law as. enforcement devices and are not in any general sense constitutionally suspect." State v. Williams, 2002 WI 94, ¶19, 225 Wis.2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834. The length of time questioned by the Defendant is the time that it took to travel from the squad to the Defendants' Impala added to the time it took to travel with the Defendant from the driver's door to the back of the Impala. In other words, the time was de minimis at best and well within the period needed to disengage.

The return of the drivers license to the Defendant was not an extension of the contact, but rather an appropriate termination from the traffic stop. Judge Forbeck found that the vehicle windows, "were very darkly tinted and you couldn't see into the vehicle at the place and time and position the vehicle was in when the officers were there at the scene." (R: 35 at 4). Further, Judge Forbeck found it reasonable that Officer Reed asked the Defendant to step from the car, "because it was hard to watch three people at the same time. Especially with -- when the vehicle had tinted windows." (Id. at 5)

The United States Supreme Court recognized that:

[T]here is the more immediate interest of the police officer in taking steps to assure himself that the person with whom he is dealing is not armed with a weapon that could unexpectedly and fatally be used against him. Certainly it would be unreasonable to require that police officers take unnecessary risks in the performance of their duties. American criminals have a long traditions of armed violence, and every year in this country many law enforcement officers are killed in the line of duty, and thousands more are wounded. Virtually all of these deaths and a substantial portion of the injuries are inflicted with guns and knives.

Terry, 88 S.Ct. at 1881. "According to FBI Law Enforcement Officers Killed and Assaulted reports, 62 officers were killed during traffic stops from 2003 to 2012...In 2012, 4,450 officers were wounded or assaulted in various manners during traffic stops." Ruben Rosario, *Despite Police Training*, *"Routine" Stops Can Go Awry in an Instant*, The St. Paul Pioneer Press/www.twincities.com (8/7/2014),

http://www.twincities.com/localnews/ci_26296892/despite-

<u>police-training-routine-stops-can-go-awry</u>. Officer safety is a legitimate concern and ensuring that officers can go home to their families does not violate the constitution.

Officer Reed had the right to protect himself by the least intrusive means necessary. After Officer Reed testified that he intended to return the Defendant's drivers license and release the Defendant's vehicle, Officer Reed testified that he returned to the silver Impala and asked the Defendant to exit the vehicle in order to return his drivers license. Officer Reed explained why he made that request. "It's very difficult to speak to one person when you have to try to watch three people especially when I couldn't -- I couldn't see in the back of the vehicle at all being that the windows were dark." (R:

34 at 12). Officer Reed also explained,

My feeling was that I knew there was a lot of traffic leaving that location, and that if there was just a shooting, there was a lot of confusion going on, and that it very well could have been the (silver Impala involved in the shooting). The dispatcher saying it was Iowa registration and everything, I -- I wanted to make sure that that was actually the case. I didn't -- I believed there was possibly confusion on the description of the vehicle, I guess, is what I'm saying.

(<u>Id</u>. at 65). When the possibility of the presence of guns involved in a recent shooting and the inability to see the occupants of the car merged, it was a clear danger to officer

safety. The decision to end the contact by requesting that the Defendant remove himself a short distance from that possibly dangerous situation in order for Officer Reed to hand back the Defendant's drivers license was clearly reasonable.

The contact only continued when Officer Sanders, positioned in a place that any citizen could lawfully be positioned, saw in plain view the illegally concealed weapon. At that point, investigative intent changed based on the continuing criminal violation. Courts have long held that:

> If, during a valid traffic stop, the officer becomes aware of additional suspicious factors which are sufficient to give rise to an articulable suspicion that the person committed or is committing an offense or offenses separate and distinct from the acts that prompted the officer's intervention in the first place, the stop may be extended and a new investigation begun. The validity of the extension is tested in the same manner, and under the same criteria, as the initial stop.

<u>State v. Betow</u>, 226 Wis.2d 90, 94-95, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 6th Dist. 1999).

The legality of Officer Reed's actions is analogous to the actions of the officer in <u>Colstad</u>, 2003 WI App. 25. In <u>Colstad</u>, the defendant's pickup truck struck a child, who later died. The responding officer spoke with the defendant for a brief time and told him to remain on scene as the officer tended to the injuries of the child and photographed the scene. The responding officer made contact a second time with the defendant forty-five minutes later and smelled the odor of intoxicants coming from the defendant. The responding officer put the defendant through field sobriety testing, eventually arresting the defendant for Homicide by Operating While Intoxicated. The Court of Appeals found that the initial investigatory detention occurred when the responding officer told the defendant to stay. The Court of Appeals also found that the investigatory detention was reasonable based on a possible *civil* violation. The investigatory intent transformed to criminal when the responding officer returned to the defendant and recognized the odor of intoxicants on the defendant's breath. The defendant argued that a defacto arrest without probable cause occurred due to the forty-five minute delay between officer contacts, and, therefore, a violation of the defendant's Fourth Amendment rights occurred. The Court of Appeals disagreed. Reviewing the reasonableness of the length and scope of a brief investigatory detention, the Court noted that:

> For the stop of a person to pass constitutional muster as investigatory, the detention must be temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effect the purpose of the stop. "Similarly, the investigative methods employed should be the least intrusive means reasonably available

to verify or dispel the officer's suspicion in a short period of time." A hard and fast time limit rule has been In assessing a detention for purposes of rejected. determining whether it was too long in duration, a court must consider "whether the police diligently pursued a means of investigation that was likely to confirm or dispel their suspicions quickly, during which time it is necessary to detain" the suspect. In making this assessment, courts "should not indulge in unrealistic second-guessing." In assessing a detention's validity, the "totality courts must consider of the circumstances-the whole picture," because the concept of reasonable suspicion is not "readily, or even usefully, reduced to a neat set of legal rules."

<u>Colstad</u>, 2003 WI App. 25 at ¶16. The Court of Appeals found the officer discovered information subsequent to the initial stop which, when combined with information already acquired, provided reasonable suspicion that the defendant engaged in criminal activity.

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